Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-10-2018

Idaho Power Company v. Tidwell Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45644

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal of Order No. 33928 Final Order Denying Reconsideration ("Final Order") in Idaho Public Utilities Commission Case No. IPC-E-16-28, issued by the Idaho Public Utilities Commission ("IPUC") on November 17, 2017. The Final Order denied Ms. Tidwell's petition for reconsideration concerning an award of intervenor funding. Intervenor funding awards are provided for under Idaho Code § 61-617A. However, the IPCU denied Ms. Tidwell's request for intervenor funding because it was received after August 22, 2017. Ms. Tidwell contends that the agency failed to properly notice the August 22, 2017 deadline, and that the administrative rule governing intervenor funding requests is arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion, in addition to being unconstitutionally vague. This appeal seeks an award of attorney fees and clarification of administrative law questions related to intervenor funding requests.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition

On December 5, 2016, Kiki Leslie A. Tidwell ("Ms. Tidwell") petitioned to intervene in Idaho Power's *Application for Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity for Wood River Valley* in IPUC Case No. IPC-E-16-28. Ms. Tidwell was the first intervenor in this case.

Between November 29, 2016 and June 27, 2017, the IPUC published eleven notices or orders that were available to intervenors. On August 8, 2017, the IPUC held a technical hearing that was scheduled to continue on August 9, 2017, if needed. R. vol. I, pp. 77-78.

On September 15, 2017, the IPUC granted Idaho Power's Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (CPCN) and awarded intervenor funding to the Sierra Club in Order No. 33872. R. vol. I, pp. 143-160. September 15, 2017 was the first time Ms. Tidwell was aware that intervenor funding requests were available to intervenors and that the time to apply for intervenor funding requests had passed.

On September 16, 2017, Ms. Tidwell filed an intervenor funding request with the IPUC.

R. vol. I, pp. 164-174. On October 12, 2017, the IPUC denied Ms. Tidwell's request in Order

No. 33906. R. vol. I, pp. 175-177. Ms. Tidwell filed a petition for reconsideration on October 23,

2017. R. vol. I, pp. 178-179. The IPUC denied Ms. Tidwell's petition for reconsideration on

November 17, 2017 in Order No. 33928. R. vol. I, pp. 180-182. This appeal was filed with the

IPUC on December 27, 2017. R. vol. I, pp. 183-188.

C. Statement of Facts

IPUC Case No. IPC-E-16-28 began on November 28, 2016 and the final order was issued on November 17, 2017. In the almost year long process of this case, the IPUC never provided written notice of Rule 164, its requirements, or the August 22, 2017 deadline for intervenor funding requests. The only notice of the August 22, 2017 deadline that was provided to intervenors was a one sentence, oral proclamation by Commissioner Anderson at the August 8, 2017 evidentiary hearing where he said, "Intervenor funding requests under Rule 164 are due 14 days from today." R. vol. II, p. 686. This statement is only reflected in the transcript of the August 8, 2017 evidentiary hearing, which was unavailable to intervenors. Otherwise, if a party was to look back through the official record, Commissioner Anderson's determination that

intervenor funding requests were due 14 days from August 8, 2017 cannot be found, nor can it be reconstructed.

Ms. Tidwell attended all of the IPUC hearings. Specifically, she attended the August 8, 2017 evidentiary hearing, which was scheduled to continue the following day. While the August 8, 2017 transcript states that Commissioner Anderson gave oral notice of the Rule 164 deadline, the record does not establish that Ms. Tidwell heard that announcement. R. vol. II, p. 686. In fact, Ms. Tidwell did not hear Commissioner's Anderson's oral pronouncement that intervenor funding requests were due 14 days from the August 8, 2017 evidentiary hearing. R. vol. I, p. 179. The announcement of the deadline by Commissioner Anderson was made just moments before 5:27 PM, after an all day long hearing. Tellingly, Commissioner Anderson described his sole comment about Rule 164 as a "little housekeeping thing[]." R. vol. II, p. 686. The legal right and opportunity to request \$18,538.47 in intervenor funding is not a little housekeeping thing.

On September 15, 2017, Ms. Tidwell received the first notice that intervenor funding requests were due on August 22, 2017 when Order No. 33872, which awarded intervenor funding to the Sierra Club, was received in the mail. R. vol. I, pp. 143-160. Prior to September 15, 2017, Ms. Tidwell was unaware of the intervenor funding availability. Ms. Tidwell submitted her application for intervenor funding one day after receiving IPUC Order No. 33872, which was the first time Ms. Tidwell was aware of the availability and deadline for intervenor funding. Ms. Tidwell was unaware of the opportunity to apply for intervenor funding, and Order No. 33872 was the first notice she received indicating the availability and deadline for intervenor funding requests.

Ms. Tidwell's application for intervenor funding acknowledges that it was submitted late per the IPUC's August 22, 2017 deadline, and it tries to reasonably explain the tardiness; her initial application was a good-faith attempt at cooperation and acceptance of the agency's deadline. R. vol. I, pp. 164-165, 178-179. Ms. Tidwell hoped that by acting in good-faith, the IPUC would use its discretion to award her late intervenor funding request as it had previously done in IPUC Case No. IPC-E-17-03. Unfortunately for Ms. Tidwell, the IPUC denied her application without ever considering whether she met the relevant factors under Idaho Code § 61-617A, and they used her good-faith attempt at fixing this procedural error as justification to deny her request. R. vol. I, pp.175-177, 180-182.

The IPUC denied Ms. Tidwell's request solely because it was received after the purported August 22, 2017 deadline for intervenor funding requests. R. vol. I, pp. 180-182. The denial was based on Idaho Administrative Procedure Act Rules 31.01.01.161-165, which provide procedural rules for intervenor funding requests. Specifically, IDAPA 31.01.01.164 (Rule 164) states:

Unless otherwise provided by order, an intervenor requesting intervenor funding must apply no later than fourteen (14) days after the last evidentiary hearing in a proceeding or the deadline for submitting briefs, proposed orders, or statements of position, whichever is last. Motions in opposition to intervenor funding must be filed within fourteen (14) days after the request for intervenor funding is filed.

Rule 164 is the heart of this appeal because it was the legal justification for denying Ms. Tidwell's request for intervenor funding.

The IPUC did not provide adequate notice to intervening parties that August 22, 2017 was the deadline for intervenor funding applications under Rule 164. Similarly, the IPUC failed to give proper notice to intervenors that any of the other triggering events

provided for in Rule 164 had occurred. As explained below, without the IPUC making a determination that Rule 164 is in effect, it is impossible for intervenors to accurately determine the correct intervenor funding request due date. As written, Rule 164 requires a determination by the IPUC that its 14-day deadline is in effect.

Ms. Tidwell's argument, therefore, relies on the fact that the August 22, 2017 deadline for intervenor funding applications was not noticed in writing, and that her application for intervenor funding was denied solely on the basis of the August 22, 2017 deadline.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Ms. Tidwell presents the following issues on appeal:

- Whether the IPUC failed to provide adequate notice to all parties that intervenor funding requests were due on August 22, 2017.
- Whether the IPUC's denial of Appellant's intervenor funding request based solely
 on timing is arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion because the IPUC
 previously awarded intervenor funding to late applicants.
- Whether the IPUC violated Idaho Code § 61-617A because it denied Ms.
 Tidwell's application solely based on timing.
- Whether the August 8, 2017 was "the last evidentiary hearing in a proceeding or the deadline for submitting briefs, proposed orders, or statements of position," under Rule 164.
- 5. Whether Rule 164 is unconstitutional for reason of vagueness.
- 6. Whether Ms. Tidwell is entitled to an award of attorney fees.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Commission is authorized to award intervenor funding requests pursuant to statute. The Supreme Court employs an abuse of discretion standard in reviewing such decisions. Idaho Fair Share v. Idaho Public Utilities Comm'n, 113 Idaho 959, 751 P.2d 107 (1988), rev'd on other grounds. J.R Simplot Co., Inc. v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 120 Idaho 849, 862, 820 P.2d 1206, 1219 (1991). "The wording of I.C. § 61-617A makes it evident that the Commission is vested with the discretion to award attorney's fees and costs... The decision of the adjudicating body awarding fees will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion." *Id.* at 963, 751 P.2d at 111.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. IPUC failed to provide adequate notice to all parties that intervenor funding requests were due on August 22, 2017.

The first issue on appeal is whether the IPUC gave adequate notice of the August 22, 2017 deadline for intervenor funding requests to comply with procedural due process requirements.

Rule 164 is a procedural rule that establishes a 14-day window for intervenors to apply for intervenor funding requests. IDAPA 31.01.01.164. According to Rule 164, intervenor funding requests are due "no later than fourteen (14) days after the last evidentiary hearing in a proceeding or the deadline for submitting briefs, proposed orders, or statements of position, whichever is last." *Id.* This court has also long held that "[t]o satisfy an essential requisite of procedural due process, a 'hearing' must be prefaced by timely notice which adequately informs the parties of the specific issues they must prepare to meet." State v. Gibbs, 94 Idaho 908, 914,

500 P.2d 209 (1972). In *Gibbs*, a criminal summons only informed the defendant that the issue to be heard was guilt or innocence. However, at the hearing, the court also entertained a jurisdictional question not contemplated in the summons. The Supreme Court of Idaho found that the defendant did not have adequate notice of the issues that would be heard, and thus, his due process rights were violated for lack of notice. But, most important to the case at hand, is IDAPA 31.01.01.016.01 (Rule 16), which requires all notices of the IPUC to be either mailed or emailed.

The IPUC did not provide notice that Rule 164 was an issue that would be contemplated at the August 8, 2017 evidentiary hearing, nor did it provide a mailed or emailed notice of the Rule 164 deadline as required by Rule 16. The IPUC also did not provide prior notice to intervenors that the August 8, 2017 evidentiary hearing would be the last evidentiary hearing or that August 8, 2017 was the last date for submitting briefs, proposed orders, or statements of position (*see* IDAPA 31.01.01.164). In fact, the scheduling order for the August 8, 2017 technical hearing included an additional day for the evidentiary hearing (August 9, 2017), and it was silent as to Rule 164. R. vol. I, p. 78. Similarly, the IPUC did not provide notice to intervenors after the August 8, 2017 hearing that Rule 164 was in effect as of August 8, 2017, and that the due date for intervenor funding requests was August 22, 2017. The only time in the entire ten-month proceeding that the IPUC mentioned Rule 164 was at the August 8, 2017 technical hearing when Commissioner Anderson devoted a one-sentence oral pronouncement that, "Intervenor funding requests under Rule 164 are due 14 days from today." R. Partial Tr. vol. II, p. 686.

The inadequacy of this oral pronouncement is the crux of Ms. Tidwell's argument. There is simply no way to verify that Ms. Tidwell or the other intervenors heard Commissioner Anderson, and Ms. Tidwell strongly contends that oral announcements of deadlines for legislatively enacted rights is wholly inadequate. Rule 16 requires all notices to be mailed or emailed. Prior to Commissioner Anderson's statement, intervenors had no indication that the time limit contemplated in Rule 164 would begin on August 8, 2017. Had intervenors wished to go back and determine when the time limit in Rule 164 began, they would be unable to do so because there was no notice in the record available to intervenors that would allow them to make such a determination independent of an actual order or notice. If an intervenor had a hearing disability they would have similarly not known about the Rule 164 deadline, and the IPUC would be at risk of Americans with Disabilities Act violations. Or, had an intervenor been in conversation with counsel for the split second that Commissioner Anderson made his Rule 164 announcement they would also be without notice of the deadline. Simply put, the IPUC failed to take the action required by Rule 16 and Idaho case law that would put intervenors on notice that the Rule 164 deadline had been set.

This situation specifically and unfairly prejudiced those intervenors that either did not hear Commissioner Anderson's statement that funding requests were due August 22, 2017 or were not present due to other factors (it is our understanding that intervenor Laura Midgley was unable to attend the August 8, 2017 hearing and was similarly unaware of the intervenor funding deadline). The only notice of Rule 164 that could have been received by intervenors was if they happened to hear a one sentence proclamation made by Commissioner Anderson at 5:27 PM,

after an all-day technical hearing. R. Partial Tr. vol. II, 686. There are a myriad of ways in which oral notice fails to effectively set the intervenor funding request deadline, all of which can be remedied with a simple written statement setting forth the deadline for intervenor funding requests. Rule 16 provides a solution to this problem, but the IPUC failed to comply with its requirements.

"One of the purposes of adequate notice is to inform the affected individuals of the issues to be presented at the hearing so they can reasonably prepare their case." State, Dept. of Law Enforcement v. Engberg, 109 Idaho 530, 533, 708 P.2d 935 (App. 1985) (citing State v. Gibbs, 94 Idaho 908, 500 P.2d 209 (1972)). Here, adequate notice was not given to Ms. Tidwell, and her legislatively granted right to request intervenor funding quietly passed.

B. IPUC's denial of Appellant's intervenor funding request based solely on timing is arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion because the IPUC has previously awarded intervenor funding to late applicants.

The IPUC has previously granted late intervenor funding requests. In IPUC Case No. IPC-E-17-03, the Community Action Partnership Association of Idaho (CAPAI) submitted a late intervenor funding request. The IPUC's final order in that case granted CAPAI's late intervenor funding request. Curiously, in its order granting intervenor funding, the IPUC did not address the issue of timing for the intervenor funding request, and it was completely silent as to why it granted intervenor funding under Rule 164, even though the application was late.

An agency action is arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion when there is a lack of reasoned decision-making. See Lane Ranch Partnership v. City of Sun Valley ("Lane Ranch II"),

145 Idaho 87, 91, 175 P.3d 776, 780 (2007) (citing Enterprise, Inc. v. Nampa City, 96 Idaho 734, 739, 536 P.2d 729, 734 (1975)); Michael S. Gilmore & Dale D. Goble, *The Idaho Administrative Procedure Act: A Primer for the Practitioner*, 30 Idaho L. Rev. 273, 365 (1993); and Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983). The Idaho Supreme Court has not yet directly addressed whether agency actions need to be consistent with prior agency action. However, it has come close.

In 1980, the Supreme Court of Idaho stated, "So long as the Commission enters sufficient findings to show that its action is not arbitrary and capricious, the Commission can alter its decisions." Washington Water Power Co. v. Idaho Public Utilities Commission, 101 Idaho 567, 579, 617 P.2d 1242,1254 (1980). But, several other state and federal decisions have contemplated this question more directly. Richard H. Seamon, Idaho Administrative Law: A Primer for Students and Practitioners, 51 Idaho Law Review 421, 443-444 (2015). The United States Supreme Court stated that "[a]n agency may not, for example, depart from a prior policy sub silentio or simply disregard rules that are still on the books." Fed. Commc'n Comm'n v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 127 S. Ct. 1800, 1811, 556 U.S. 502, 515 (2009). In FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc. the Commission's new policy concerning censoring certain expletives was not arbitrary or capricious because the FCC "acknowledged that its recent actions have broken new ground, taking account of inconsistent 'prior Commission and staff action' and explicitly disavowing them..." Id at 1812, 517. The rule out of that case is that agencies must adequately explain inconsistencies with prior administrative actions if their inconsistent actions are going to be valid.

In Ms. Tidwell's case, the IPUC did exactly what FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc. explained was prohibited: it strictly construed Rule 164 without explanation, even though it had previously ignored the requirements of Rule 164 in CAPAI's request. The IPUC also failed to enter findings explaining why its earlier grant of late intervenor funding requests was appropriate in the CAPAI case, but not in Ms. Tidwell's case; the IPUC's decision to strictly construe Rule 164's 14-day deadline was not explained or contemplated in light of the fact that they had previously allowed late intervenor funding applications. It seems that the IPUC simply decided, without explanation, that this was a case where Rule 164 would be applied strictly. Disregarding specific administrative rules in one instance while strictly enforcing them in others, and doing so sub silentio, is the exact kind of arbitrary and capricious action that the United States Supreme Court contemplated and prohibited in FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc and the Idaho Supreme Court contemplated in Washington Water Power Co. v. Idaho Pub. Utils. Comm'n.

Ms. Tidwell's case is not unlike the CAPAI case, except that CAPAI's application for intervenor funding was accepted and approved, while Ms. Tidwell's application for intervenor funding was denied. The record shows that the IPUC denied Ms. Tidwell's intervenor funding request solely because it was submitted late. R. vol. I. pp. 175-176. Despite Ms. Tidwell applying for funding on the day that she became aware intervenor funding requests were due, the IPUC decided that it would strictly construe Rule 164, even though it had previously awarded late intervenor funding quests without any explanation. The inconsistency and lack of explanation for why the IPUC would accept one applicant's intervenor funding request while denying another's is the definition of arbitrary and capricious decision making and it is the very type of action

prohibited by administrative agencies. Ms. Tidwell respectfully asks this court to rule that inconsistent agency actions are only valid if adequately explained.

C. IPUC violated Idaho Code § 61-617A because it denied Ms. Tidwell's application solely based on timing.

Idaho Code § 61-617A sets out four standards upon which awards of intervenor funding requests are to be evaluated. The IPUC did not deny Ms. Tidwell's application for intervenor funding because it failed to comply with the factors of Idaho Code § 61-617A, nor did any other parties to the case object to Ms. Tidwell's request for intervenor funding. Instead, the IPUC found a convenient way to deny Ms. Tidwell's application for intervenor funding due to a procedural error for which she was unaware because the deadline had not been properly noticed. The legislature did not intend for the public to fall victim to complex and unknown procedural rules when seeking costs and attorney fees. Instead, the intent of the legislature was unmistakably codified in Idaho Code § 61-617A(1), which states that it is "the policy of this state to encourage participation at all stages of all proceedings before the commission so that all affected customers receive full and fair representation in those proceedings."

Such a policy is directly opposed to tricky and unknown procedural rules that can be silently used to avoid legislatively mandated policies. The IPUC has discretion in implementing this law, but that discretion must be reasoned and based in fact. Lane Ranch Partnership v. City of Sun Valley ("Lane Ranch II"), 145 Idaho 87, 91, 175 P.3d 776, 780 (2007) (citing Enterprise, Inc. v. Nampa City, 96 Idaho 734, 739, 536 P.2d 729, 734 (1975)); Michael S. Gilmore & Dale D. Goble, *The Idaho Administrative Procedure Act: A Primer for the Practitioner*, 30 Idaho L.

Rev. 273, 365 (1993); and Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983). And, when looked at in conjunction with Idaho Code § 61-617A, it is clear that the IPUC acted contrary to the legislatively enacted policy of Idaho Code § 61-617A and beyond the authorization given to it by the legislature.

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