Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-9-2018

Idaho Power Company v. Tidwell Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45644

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

The Commission applied Rule 164 in denying both her original request and the petition for reconsideration. Rule 164 states, in relevant part:

Unless otherwise provided by order, an intervenor requesting intervenor funding must apply no later than fourteen (14) days after the last evidentiary hearing in a proceeding or the deadline for submitting briefs, proposed orders, or statements of position, whichever is last.

IDAPA 31.01.01.164. The Rule plainly states the deadline for submitting intervenor-funding requests. The August 8, 2017 technical hearing was the last evidentiary hearing in the case, and

Ms. Tidwell and her counsel both attended it. Tr. Vol. I at List of Appearances. At the close of the hearing, the Commission's chair for the case reminded the parties that any intervenor-funding requests would be due 14 days from that day (or August 22, 2017). Tr. Vol. I p. 686, L. 15-16. Ms. Tidwell and her counsel were present at the hearing. Tr. Vol I, at List of Appearances. Ms. Tidwell filed her request on September 19, 2017, which is clearly untimely.

Ms. Tidwell's intervenor-funding request acknowledged that it was late, and explained that Ms. Tidwell "was not aware of the possibility of Intervenor funding under Idaho Code 61-617A; my attorney never presented me this information." *Id.* at 164. Ms. Tidwell also "apologize[d] that this request is being submitted late due to the lack of communication that this compensation was available to me as an intervenor." *Id.* at 165.

At that time, Ms. Tidwell's only explanation for filing late was that her attorney did not tell her about the availability of intervenor funding. Her explanation was not supported by affidavits. Her argument fails because, as a factual matter, it is uncontested that the hearing chairman stated on the record that the deadline for intervenor-funding requests was 14 days from the hearing. Tr. Vol 1, p. 686, L. 15-16. Thus, both Ms. Tidwell and her counsel had notice, via an on-the-record statement, that intervenor funding was available and that a deadline existed. Further, ignorance of procedural rules is generally inexcusable. *Washington v. Federal Sav. And Loan Ass'n v Transamerica*, 124 Idaho 913, 918, 856 P.2d 1004, 1009 (1993). Accordingly, the Commission correctly denied the request as untimely. R. Vol. I, p. 175-177.

In her petition for reconsideration, Ms. Tidwell changed her reasoning for the late filing.

Rather than continuing to admit that her funding request was untimely, she instead stated that the

RESPONDENT BRIEF OF THE IDAHO PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 9

funding request was timely because it "was submitted during the period that a petition for reconsideration could have been submitted." R. Vol. I, p. 178. Ms. Tidwell claimed, on reconsideration, that the 14-day time period in Rule 164 did not start running on August 8, 2017. Instead, she argues, the 14 days for filing a funding request started running on the deadline for filing petitions for reconsideration, 21 days after the final order (IDAPA 31.01.01.331.01), and as a result, her request was timely. Ms. Tidwell's reading of Rule 164 ignores both the plain language of the Rule and common sense. Her argument assumes that, because a party *might* have submitted a brief, proposed order, or statement of position anytime during the 21 day reconsideration period, intervenor-funding requests were *automatically* due 14 days after the 21 day period had run, not at an earlier date. This interpretation would mean that funding requests could never be due 14 days after the evidentiary hearing, making that provision of Rule 164 superfluous. *See*, *Ameritel Inns*, *Inc. v. Pocatello-Chubbuck Auditorium or Cmty. Ctr. Dist.*, 146 Idaho 202, 204, 192 P.3d 1026, 1028 (2008) (In determining the ordinary meaning of a statute effect must be given to all the words of the statute if possible, so that none will be void, superfluous, or redundant).

As a factual matter, in this case, no subsequent briefs, proposed orders, or position papers were ordered or filed. Accordingly, the evidentiary hearing was the "last" event under Rule 164, and appropriately started the clock ticking. Moreover, any doubt about the plain language of the Rule was quashed by the meeting chair's statement on the record that intervenor-funding requests were due within 14 days of the hearing.

Had a party submitted any additional filings, such as a petition for reconsideration of a final order, the Commission could consider subsequent funding requests for costs incurred during the

RESPONDENT BRIEF OF THE IDAHO PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 10

subsequent phases of the proceeding, even when filed past the initial 14-day time period. In such cases, the time period for the subsequent filing starts running upon the "last" applicable event listed in Rule 164. See, Building Contractors Ass'n of Sw. Idaho v. Idaho Pub. Util. Comm'n, 151 Idaho 10, 253 P.3d 684 (2011) (acknowledging Commission denied first application as untimely but considered second application for costs incurred during reconsideration phase). In this way, the Commission gives effect to the entirety of Rule 164 and protects intervenors by not foreclosing subsequent or additional funding requests if a case moves into subsequent phases beyond issuance of a final order. Adopting Ms. Tidwell's position would eliminate the possibility that the time period could start running at the close of the evidentiary hearing, which the Rule plainly allows.

Ms. Tidwell also asserted in her petition for reconsideration that the Commission failed to "provide a full and fair representation in the proceedings to all affected customers" by "failing to provide adequate information" about Idaho Code § 61-617A to intervenors prior to the September 15, 2017 final order in the underlying case. R. Vol. I, p. 178. Ms. Tidwell misstates the statute. Idaho Code § 61-617A states that Idaho's policy is to encourage participation in Commission proceedings so all affected customers receive full and fair representation in the proceedings. The statute furthers this policy by providing the Commission discretion to order a utility to pay some or all of the costs of intervenors that apply, up to a cap, after taking into account certain considerations. Idaho Code § 61-617A(2). The statute thus encourages participation so all affected customers receive full and fair representation by allowing intervenors an opportunity to defray the costs they incurred by participating. The statute does not, as Ms. Tidwell asserts, require the Commission to provide such representation to customers. Indeed, Ms. Tidwell was represented

by counsel at the evidentiary hearing. Further, Ms. Tidwell has not claimed or shown that her or her counsel's alleged lack of knowledge or understanding about the intervenor-funding statute somehow discouraged her from participating or being fully represented in the underlying proceeding. Thus, there is no evidence to suggest that the policy behind the statute was somehow undermined in this case.

Ms. Tidwell further claimed, in her petition for reconsideration, that the Commission has the "burden to explain" the intervenor-funding mechanism to her and to her counsel. R. Vol. I, p. 178. Ms. Tidwell provided no authority for this bald assertion. In *Greenfield v. Smith*, 162 Idaho 246, 253, 395 P.3d 1279, 1286 (2017), a *pro se* litigant in a legal malpractice case argued that the trial court had a duty to explain to her the effects of a motion for summary judgment. The Idaho Supreme Court disagreed, stating the well-established rule that *pro se* litigants are not accorded any special consideration and are not excused from procedural rules. *Id.* If courts do not have to explain legal principals and procedures to litigants, then administrative agencies, such as the Commission, similarly have no duty to explain statutes and rules to *represented* participants, let alone to their counsel. Accordingly, Ms. Tidwell's assertion that the Commission had a burden to explain Idaho Code § 61-617A and Rule 164 to her and her counsel is meritless. For the foregoing reasons, the Commission's denial of Ms. Tidwell's petition for reconsideration should be affirmed.

B. Ms. Tidwell Has Waived the Remaining Arguments in Her Appeal Because She Did Not Raise Them Below.

Ms. Tidwell raised the issues discussed in Section A, above, when she petitioned the Commission to reconsider its denial of her intervenor-funding request. She has also raised them

here as part or all of her first and fourth issues on appeal. Apart from those issues, however, Ms. Tidwell failed to raise these issues in her petition for reconsideration before the Commission. Ms. Tidwell now adds four new issues and arguments on appeal. These include:

- (1) The Commission had to e-mail or mail her a written notice that intervenor-funding requests would be mentioned at the final evidentiary hearing on August 8, 2017, and that they would be due 14 days after the hearing. Ms. Tidwell raises this issue as part of her first issue on appeal that the Commission failed to adequately notify her when funding requests were due. *See* Appellant's Br. at 7;
- (2) The Commission acted arbitrarily, capriciously, and abused its discretion by denying her intervenor-funding request as untimely when it previously granted intervenor funding to a late petitioner in another. This issue is Ms. Tidwell's second issue on appeal. See Appellant's Br. at 5, 9-12;
- (3) The Commission "violated" Idaho Code § 61-617A by denying Ms. Tidwell's intervenor-funding request under Rule 164. This is Ms. Tidwell's third issue on appeal.

 See Appellant's Br. at 5, 12-13; and
- (4) Intervenor-funding Rule 164 is unconstitutionally vague. This is Ms. Tidwell's fifth issue on appeal. *See* Appellant's Br. at 5, 14-16.

The Court should decline to consider these four issues because Ms. Tidwell is raising them for the first time on appeal. It is well-settled that, in an appeal from the Commission, matters may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Objections that were not raised before the Commission in a petition for reconsideration, will not be considered for the first time by the Idaho Supreme

Court. *McNeal v Idaho PUC*, 142 Idaho 685, 132 P.3d 442 (2006) (holding that, where the appellant's petition for reconsideration at the Commission failed to raise a certain argument, the "argument may not be raised for the first time on appeal"). "The rationale behind the rule is to afford the [Commission] an opportunity to rectify any mistake before presenting the issue to the Supreme Court." *Eagle Water Co. v. Idaho PUC*, 130 Idaho 314, 316-17, 940 P.2d 1133, 1135-36 (1997). Here, Ms. Tidwell failed to present the four matters above to the Commission in her petition for reconsideration. She thus deprived the Commission of its opportunity to rectify any mistake before she appealed. Accordingly, the Court should decline to consider these issues here.⁴

Nonetheless, because Ms. Tidwell has raised these four new arguments here, in the sections below the Commission shows why they fail.

1. Ms. Tidwell Had Adequate Notice of Idaho Code § 61-617A and Rule 164.

Ms. Tidwell argues the Commission did not adequately notify her that intervenor-funding requests were due on August 22, 2017, in part because the Commission did not e-mail or mail her a written notice that funding requests would be mentioned at the final evidentiary hearing on August 8, 2017, and that they would be due 14 days after the hearing. Appellant's Br. at 7 (citing IDAPA 31.01.01.016 (Rule 16)). This argument fails because Ms. Tidwell assumes the hearing chairman issued an "order" regarding the availability of intervenor funding and was, therefore,

RESPONDENT BRIEF OF THE IDAHO PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 14

⁴ An exception to the rule against appellate courts considering issues not raised below is that the Court may consider constitutional issues for the first time on appeal if doing so is necessary for subsequent proceedings in the case. *Murray v. Spalding*, 141 Idaho 99, 101–02, 106 P.3d 425, 427–28 (2005). Although Ms. Tidwell raises a constitutional challenge when arguing that Rule 164 is unconstitutionally vague, because there are no subsequent proceedings in this case, the exception does not apply. This Court should thus still decline to consider the vagueness issue.

obligated to provide such order by mail or e-mail under Rule 16. Ms. Tidwell's assumption is incorrect. Rule 16 does not apply, and the Commission did not have to issue a "notice" or "order" relating to intervenor-funding requests. The words "notice" and "order" are terms of art used in specific contexts throughout the Rules of Procedure of the Idaho Public Utilities Commission, which specify when the Commission will issue a notice or order. *See, e.g.*, IDAPA 31.01.01.102 (notices issued and orders served in petition for declaratory order cases); IDAPA 31.01.01.123 (notice of application issued in rate cases); IDAPA 31.01.01.204 (orders in modified procedure cases); IDAPA 31.01.01.212 (notice of prehearing conference).

In contrast, Rule 164 does not require the Commission to issue an order. In fact, Rule 164 states that "unless otherwise provided by order," intervenors must request funding no later than 14 days after the last evidentiary hearing in a proceeding or the deadline for submitting briefs, proposed orders, or statements of position, whichever is last. IDAPA 31.01.01.164. Unless the Commission wishes to deviate from the timeframe in the Rule, it need not issue an order. The hearing chairman's statement on the record of the due date for funding requests was not a notice or an order, as those terms are used in the rules. Ms. Tidwell's assertion that the hearing chairman's statement was the only way intervenors would have known of the availability of intervenor funding, or of the deadline for such requests, is erroneous. The intervenor-funding statute and Rule 164 speak for themselves. And, as explained above, the Commission did not have to notify parties, intervenors, or counsel about the existence of the statute or the rule. Ms. Tidwell and her counsel are charged with notice of both.

This Court's rulings in cases involving requests for relief from final judgment provide guidance here. For instance, in Washington v. Federal Sav. And Loan Ass'n v Transamerica, 124 Idaho 913, 856 P.2d 1004 (1993), the head of the Transamerica's litigation department mistakenly believed that he had thirty days to respond to a complaint and missed the true deadline. Default judgment was thus entered against Transamerica. When Transamerica sought relief from the default judgment based on excusable neglect, this Court stated that "ignorance of the laws or rules of procedure are generally inexcusable." Id. at 916-917. (citing 11. C. WRIGHT, A MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 2858 p. 170 (1973)). There was no confusion over conflicting documents, statutes, or rules, "there was only a misinterpretation or ignorance of Idaho law." Id. at 918, 856 P.2d at 1010 (distinguishing Schraufnagel v. Quinowski, 113 Idaho 753, 747 P.2d 775 (Ct.App. 1987)). The Court cited several additional cases for the proposition that "failure to know and meet filing deadlines are inexcusable mistakes of law." Id. citing Gro-Mor Inc., v. Butts, 109 Idaho 1020, 712 P.2d 721 (Ct.App. 1985); Hearst Corporation v. Keller, 100 Idaho 10, 592 P.2d 66 (1979) reversed on other grounds; Newbold v. Arvidson, 105 Idaho 663, 672 P.2d 231 (1983). Similarly, in several other types of civil cases, this Court has held that a lawyer's mistake of law is an insufficient basis upon which to reverse a lower court's order. See, Danti v. Danti, 146 Idaho 929, 941-42, 204 P.3d 1140, 1152-53 (2009) (In child custody case, "well-settled rule in Idaho that the negligence, mistakes, or unskillfulness of counsel do not provide a basis for setting aside a civil judgment"); Esser Elec. v. Lost River Ballistics Techs., Inc., 145 Idaho 912, 917, 188 P.3d 854, 859 (2008) (In real property case, "equity will not relieve against a judgment at law on account of any ignorance, unskillfulness, or mistake of the party's attorney (unless caused by the

opposite party) nor for counsel's negligence or inattention"); *Donovan v. Miller*, 12 Idaho 600,605, 88 P. 82, 84 (1906) (In contract case, "it is well established that a mistake or unskillfulness of an attorney is not sufficient to authorize an injunction to issue to restrain the enforcement of a judgment at law"). Similarly, here, the Commission did not have to give Ms. Tidwell or her counsel notice of the statute or Rule, and her lack of knowledge of the statute or Rule does not mean that the Commission must excuse her noncompliance.

2. The Commission Did Not Act Arbitrarily or Capriciously.

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